FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 6/7/2018 1:42 PM

Supreme Court No. _____95946-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 34760-5

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KITTITAS COUNTY, a municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Washington, *Plaintiff*,

VS.

SKY ALLPHIN, ABC HOLDINGS, INC., and CHEM-SAFE ENVIRONNEMENTAL, INC., *Appellants*,

THE WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY, Respondent.

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mr. Leslie A. Powers, WSBA No. 6103 Powers & Therrien P.S. 3502 Tieton Drive Yakima, WA 98902 (509) 453-8906

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Sky Allphin, ABC Holdings, Inc., and Chem-Safe Environmental, Inc., petition for review of the Court of Appeals' decision identified in Section II below. Consistent with the Court's decision, this Petition refers to the Petitioners collectively as "Mr. Allphin."

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Allphin seeks review of the published portion of the decision terminating review in *Kittitas Cty. v. Allphin*, 2 Wn. App. 2d 782, 413 P.3d 22 (2018), issued by Division III of the Court of Appeals on March 13, 2018 (copy attached as Appendix A). Mr. Allphin timely moved for reconsideration, which was denied on May 8, 2018 (copy attached as Appendix B).

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This case involves an incorrect interpretation of the Washington Public Records Act's 'show cause' statute, RCW 42.56.550, which provides a procedure exclusively to private citizens to seek judicial relief against public agencies that improperly deny access to public records. Here, a private citizen (Mr. Allphin) requested multiple public records from a public agency (the Washington Department of Ecology) related to a second public agency's (Kittitas County) determination that his business was a public nuisance.

Mr. Allphin's simple records requests became complicated when the County sued to enjoin Ecology's production of records it contended were protected by attorney-client and work product privilege. The dispute escalated further when Mr. Allphin counterclaimed and cross-claimed respectively against the County and Ecology. Prior to completion of discovery, Ecology brought—and the superior court granted—a show cause motion under the PRA's show cause statute, requiring Mr. Allphin to show cause as to why Ecology was not in compliance with the PRA. At the conclusion of the hearing on Ecology's motion, the superior court held that Mr. Allphin failed to meet his show cause burden and dismissed his crossclaims against Ecology. The Court of Appeals affirmed. This affirmation gives rise to the following issue:

Is a show cause action under RCW 42.56.550 improper when initiated by a public agency that has denied access to public records when such an action runs contrary to the Legislature's express intent that only private citizens may bring a PRA show cause action? Restated in the affirmative, may only a PRA-requesting party who has been denied access to public records bring a show cause action pursuant to RCW 42.56.550?

For the reasons set forth in Section V of this Petition, this issue warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Allphin's Chem-Safe business is a hazardous waste facility located in Kittitas County. In 2011, and after working for two years in conjunction with the Washington Department of Ecology, Kittitas County issued Chem-Safe a Notice of Violation and Abatement, requiring Chem-Safe to halt operation until it obtained permits and equipment that the County contended were necessary for future operations. CP 1778–89. Mr. Allphin appealed the Notice, which a hearing officer affirmed. The officer's affirmation was later affirmed by both the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals (*see ABC Holdings, Inc. v. Kittitas County*, 187 Wn. App. 275, 348 P.2d 1222 (2015)).

Prior to and while the Notice was under consideration by the Court of Appeals, Mr. Allphin issued a number of PRA document requests to Ecology related to the County's issuance of the Notice. *See*, *e.g.*, CP 543–45, 550–552. One of Mr. Allphin's requests asked for 19 records that the County contends are attorney-client or work-product privileged communications and therefore exempt from production under the PRA. CP 545–46. Mr. Allphin requested additional records from Ecology that Kittitas did not contend were privileged. CP 225–49, 543–45, 550–552.

At the County's request, Ecology delayed production of the 19 allegedly privileged records so that the County could seek an injunction

preventing their disclosure. CP 233–34, 270–77. Ecology did not produce the actual records to Mr. Allphin but instead produced a list of the 19 records in February of 2013. CP 545–46. Ecology also did not produce the additional, non-privileged records Mr. Allphin requested. *See* CP 546–47.

The County filed an action for declaratory relief and injunction against Mr. Allphin and Ecology on February 22, 2013, to (a) prevent production of the 19 records and (b) to enjoin the use of records previously delivered to Mr. Allphin. CP 1–8. The superior court eventually determined that 11 of the 19 records were privileged documents and on December 20, 2013, sealed the records and permanently enjoined their use. On May 17, 2018, this Court affirmed the superior court's determination. *Kittitas County v. Allphin*, No. 93562-9, 2018 Wash. LEXIS 336, at *2 (Wash. May 17, 2018).

Mr. Allphin moved in 2014 to amend his answer in the County's declaratory judgment action to include counterclaims against the County

¹ This Court's Opinion in Cause No. 93562-9 did not resolve the question of whether it was improper for Ecology to refuse production of the documents that the County did not allege were privileged. Nor did the Opinion resolve the conflicting factual conclusions reached by the Court of Appeals regarding whether or not Ecology produced the privileged documents, thereby waiving privilege. *See* 5/15/17 Ecology Resp. Brief at 5, n. 6 ("The County's initial request focused on 19 e-mails, and was reduced to 11 by the time the court granted the permanent injunction, in part because Ecology had already inadvertently released some of the documents.") (citing CP 148–72)). Accordingly, the Opinion in Cause No. 93562-9 does not moot this immediate Petition; a justiciable controversy remains. *See Lee v. State*, 185 Wn.2d 608, 616–18, 374 P.3d 157 (2016) (discussing elements of justiciable controversy).

and crossclaims against Ecology. CP 25–27, 37–44. The superior court granted Mr. Allphin's motions. *Id.* Mr. Allphin then embarked on discovery. *See* CP 97–98, 455–56, 457–63.

While discovery was still ongoing, Ecology—rather than filing for CR 56 summary judgment—brought a "Motion to Show Cause," requiring Mr. Allphin prove a negative: that Ecology had not complied with the PRA. CP 99–132; *see also* 5/17/17 Resp. Brief at 11 (expressly describing Ecology's motion as "a motion to show cause"). Ecology based its motion on the PRA show cause statute, RCW 42.56.550, arguing the statute "expressly permits a show cause hearing." CP 102, 109. Mr. Allphin presented argument against Ecology's motion on procedural grounds, which the superior court rejected. CP 528–41, 1085–1107. The court granted Ecology's motion, holding that Mr. Allphin had failed in his burden to "challenge ... Ecology's redactions," and presented insufficient evidence to show "bad faith by Ecology" or "discrimination against Mr. Allphin." CP 2656. The court then dismissed Mr. Allphin's crossclaims against Ecology. CP 2656–57.

On March 13, 2018, the Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court's dismissal of Mr. Allphin's crossclaims, holding that the procedure employed by Ecology to obtain dismissal was proper and did not prejudice Mr. Allphin. The Court based its affirmation on three premises:

- 1. The show cause procedure Ecology employed struck the appropriate balance between a PRA requesting citizen's right to access public records and a PRA responding agency's right to be free from "indefinite" litigation. *Kittitas Cnty.*, 2 Wn. App. 2d at 793.
- 2. Agencies such as Ecology have the same right to proceed under the Rules of Civil Procedure as do private citizens. *Id.* at 789–90.
- 3. Ecology's motion was not one to show cause under RCW 42.56.550; but rather a hybrid CR 7 motion combined with a motion to shorten time, which the Court of Appeals concluded were equivalent because the employed procedure did not prejudice Mr. Allphin. *Id.* at 791–92.

V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Court of Appeals' affirmation via published opinion of Ecology's show cause motion creates a new procedure by which a public agency responding to a PRA request can seek relief in the courts through a procedure that inappropriately shifts the burden of persuasion from the responding agency to the PRA-requesting citizen. By definition, an agency-filed show cause action requires the nonmoving, requesting citizen to demonstrate why the moving agency should produce the requested documents—directly contrary to the Legislature's intent that the burden at

all times be on the PRA-responding agency to demonstrate why the requested records are exempt from production and/or why the agency's search for the requested records was reasonable.

The Court of Appeals justifies its affirmation of this new procedure on grounds that the procedure protects the right of responding agencies to be free from protracted litigation. Washington law already protects that right. CR 56 provides the appropriate balance between the right of the responding agency not to be burdened by protracted litigation and the right of the requesting party to hold accountable those agencies that do not comply with the PRA.

The Court of Appeals' Opinion tips the Legislative balance between the rights of the PRA requester and the PRA responder too far in favor of the PRA responder. If not corrected, the Court of Appeals' Opinion will prejudice future PRA requesters like Mr. Allphin and will have a chilling effect on the PRA request process. The Court should accept review to correct the Court of Appeals' adoption of this new, ersatz procedure.

A. The Legislature intended the PRA show cause action to be available only to private citizens whose PRA requests have been denied by a responding agency.

The Public Records Act "is a strongly worded mandate for broad disclosure of public records" *Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of*

Wash., 125 Wn.2d 243, 251, 884 P.2d 592 (1994). "[F]ree and open examination of public records is in the public interest, even though such examination may cause inconvenience or embarrassment to public officials or others." *John Doe v. Dep't of Corr.*, 190 Wn.2d 185, 191, 410 P.3d 1156 (2018). Thus, the Legislature (and this Court) mandates that the PRA's provisions must be construed liberally to promote full access to public records and exemptions to production must be narrowly construed. *Amren v. City of Kalama*, 131 Wn.2d 25, 31, 929 P.2d 389 (1996).

To advance its "mandate for broad disclosure of public records," the Legislature enacted a show cause procedure, providing a method by which a PRA requesting party can take a PRA responding agency to task to "show cause why it has refused to allow inspection or copying of a specific public record or class of records." RCW 42.56.550. During the show cause procedure, the burden of proof at all times "shall be on the agency" to establish that its denial of production is warranted. *Id*.

Here, the Court of Appeals' Opinion correctly acknowledges that the plain language of RCW 42.56.550 "expressly makes a show cause procedure available to public records requesters" and not to responding agencies. *Kittitas Cty. v. Allphin*, 2 Wn. App. 2d 782, 789, 413 P.3d 22, 25 (2018). Limiting availability of PRA show cause actions only to citizen requesters furthers the purpose of the show cause action (and its associated

monetary penalties) to "deter improper denial of access to public records." *Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe*, 90 Wn.2d 123, 140, 580 P.2d 246 (1978). The statute therefore makes no mention of fees for the responding agency in the event it prevails on the show cause action. Indeed, lobbying efforts to lessen responding agency liability have failed. *See*, *e.g.*, 2017 Bill Text WA S.B. 5710 (failed in first committee) (attempting to limit the penalty for "good faith" denials of production to \$5,000). The Legislature intended the PRA show cause action to be available to requesting parties only. Nothing in the PRA authorizes the show cause action taken by Ecology and approved by the Court of Appeals.

B. Show cause actions are creatures of statute and are not contemplated by the Rules of Civil Procedure. A responding agency does not have a right to a show cause motion.

The Court's Opinion correctly states that "Washington courts have not placed limits on civil rule procedures that are available in PRA actions" and that "Agencies and objectors to disclosure have the same right to proceed under the civil rules as do record requesters." *Kittitas Cty.*, 2 Wn. App. 2d at 789–90. Based on these legal premises, the Court of Appeals concluded that Ecology's show cause motion was procedurally proper. The Court's conclusion is incorrect.

As the Court of Appeals acknowledges, show cause actions are proceedings that require the non-responding party to appear before a court

and persuade that court to act in some way other than how it is otherwise inclined to act:

A show-cause motion essentially asks a district court to issue an order requiring the nonmovant to show the court by a certain date why the court should not take some other action.

See id. at 790. (quoting 7th Circuit discussion in *United States Sec. & Exch. Comm'n, v. Hyatt*, 621 F.3d 687, 695 (7th Cir. 2010)).

These actions necessarily place the burden of persuasion on the nonmoving party. *See id.* (must "show the court ... why"). In contrast, motions brought under the Rules of Civil Procedure place the burden of persuasion on the moving party. Show cause actions therefore are "not contemplated" in the Civil Rules² and are instead creatures of statute. *Id.*

For example, the Legislature included a show cause procedure in the Residential Landlord Tenant Act, whereby a tenant in jeopardy of eviction can appear and explain why the court should not enter a writ of restitution restoring to the landlord possession of the premises. RCW 59.18.370. A similar action is available in replevin. RCW 7.64.020.

The rationale for show cause actions in real and personal property disputes is analogous to show cause actions under the PRA. Just as a real or personal property owner has a statutory right to demand return of

10

.

² Other than in CR 60(e)(2), as the Court of Appeals correctly notes. *Id.* at 790.

property unless the current possessor of that property can show otherwise, a citizen requesting records under the PRA has a statutory right to receive all requested public records unless the responding agency can demonstrate that those records are exempt from disclosure or nonexistent. RCW 42.56.550; *see also* RCW 42.56.030 ("The people, in delegating authority, do not give their public servants the right to decide what is good for the people to know and what is not good for them to know.").

The process to seek relief in all three instances is not by the Civil Rules, but by the statutory show cause action. For RLTA actions, it is RCW 59.18.370. For replevin actions, RCW 7.64.020. And for PRA requests, RCW 42.56.550. Nowhere in these show cause statutes does the Legislature provide for the party in possession of the property or the public records to seek relief via a show cause order. And nowhere in the Civil Rules (other than CR 60) is there a right to proceed under a show cause posture. Ecology did not have a right to proceed with its show cause motion under either the PRA or the Civil Rules. The Court's Opinion to the contrary is error: courts "cannot add words or clauses to an unambiguous statute when the legislature has chosen not to include that language." *State v. J.P.*, 149 Wn.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003) (internal quotation omitted).

C. PRA show cause actions and CR 7 motions are not equivalent.

Recognizing the well-worn maxim that courts cannot add to statutory language, the Court of Appeals' Opinion characterizes Ecology's motion not as one for show cause brought under RCW 42.56.550, but as one for hearing on shortened time brought under CR 7(b). *Kittitas County*, 2 Wn. App. 2d at 791–92. However, the Opinion also acknowledges that Ecology's Motion—even if brought pursuant to CR 7—was still brought "to parallel the procedure used when judicial review is sought by a requester under RCW 42.56.550(1) and (2)." *Id.* at 792. The Court's Opinion also acknowledges that the superior court relied on this procedural "parallel" when it denied Mr. Allphin oral argument at the show cause hearing:

The PRA expressly authorizes the trial court to "conduct a hearing based solely on affidavits" as the trial court did here. RCW 42.56.550(3).

Id.

The Court of Appeals resolves these incongruities by couching the two actions as interchangeable: "Whether a record requester makes a show cause motion under RCW 52.56.550(1) or (2) or an agency makes a motion for judicial review under CR 7(b), the nature of the hearing is the same." *Id.* at 792. The logical flaw in the Court of Appeals' reasoning here is that Mr. Allphin, the "record requester," did not bring the PRA

show cause action; Ecology did. An otherwise proper CR 7 motion brought by a responding agency—where the agency bears the burden of persuasion—cannot be conflated with a show cause action that shifts the burden to the requesting citizen in a manner not contemplated by the Legislature.

Further, CR 7 merely describes the *process* to bring a motion before a superior court; it is not a *basis* for relief. *See* CR 7(b)(1) ("An application to the court for an order shall be made by motion."). The moving party must still "state with particularity the grounds therefore" in order to have the motion heard. *Id*.

Although the Court of Appeals contends that the burden of proof in Ecology's show cause action remained with Ecology (*Kittitas Cnty.*, 2 Wn. App. 2d. at 792), the unpublished portion of Court's Opinion demonstrates otherwise. There, the Court of Appeals held that Mr. Allphin and Ecology bore equivalent burdens regarding Ecology's withholding of a requested "annotated sampling plan" document. The Court's Opinion begins by correctly stating that "By statute, Ecology bears the burden of proving the application of an exemption to a document being withheld" and "of demonstrating that it provided a reasonable estimate of a response time." *Kittitas County v. Allphin*, No. 34760-6-III, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS 544, at *29 (Wn. App. March 13, 2018)

(unpublished portion) (citing RCW 42.56.550(1), (2)).

But the Court then incorrectly states that Mr. Allphin bore the burden "to prove that Ecology possessed but withheld a copy of the annotated sampling plan" and that Mr. Allphin's "evidence" was "insufficient" to meet that burden. *Id.* The Court placed this burden on Mr. Allphin based on "the general proposition of law that the burden of proving a position is upon him who asserts it," citing to a 1927 case, *In re McKachney's Estate*, 143 Wash. 28, 30, 254 P. 455 (1927). Not only does *McKachney's Estate* predate the Legislature's adoption of the PRA by some 46 years (*see* Laws of 1973 ch. 1 (Initiative 276)), but Mr. Allphin—as the nonmoving party—did not "assert" any "proposition." Rather, he was forced to "show cause" as to why Ecology was not in compliance with the PRA.

A show cause motion, whether brought under RCW 42.56.550 or as a hybrid CR 7(b) Motion as the Court's Opinion suggests, is a burdenshifting device. *United States Sec. & Exch. Comm'n v. Hyatt*, 621 F 3d 687, 695 (7th Cir. 2010) (show cause motion provides "notice to the nonmoving party of **what he must do to avoid some other court action**") (emphasis added); *also Kittitas Cnty.*, 2 Wn. App. 2d at 790 (citing *Hyatt*). Under the PRA show cause statute, the burden that would normally be on the moving party based on the "general proposition of law that burden of

proving a position is upon him who asserts it" (*McKachney's Estate*, 143 Wash. at 30) shifts to the nonmoving party. And per the express language of the PRA show cause statute, the nonmoving party can only be the public agency. RCW 42.56.550(1) ("burden of proof shall be on the agency"). The Court of Appeals' Opinion constitutes an end-run around Legislative intent and the plain language of the statute. This is not a case of ambiguity; the statutory language should control.

D. <u>CR 56 summary judgment is the appropriate procedure for a responding agency to test its belief that it properly responded to a PRA request.</u>

The Court of Appeals' Opinion seeks to balance a PRA-requester's right to "broad" access to public records with a PRA-responder's right to avoid "indefinite" litigation.³ *Kittitas Cnty.*, 2 Wn. App. 2d at 793. No new procedure is necessary to effectuate the balance sought by the Court: CR 56 summary judgment provides the appropriate, balanced procedure.

On January 26, 2016, when Ecology desired "to resolve the matter with a determination by the court that it had not violated the PRA" (*Id.* at 787), Ecology should have sought CR 56 summary judgment adjudication of the issue. This procedure would have required Ecology to submit evidence into the court record (including allegedly privileged documents

15

-

³ The Court's Opinion provides no support for using a requesting agency's right to avoid indefinite litigation as foil for a requesting citizen's right to open access to public records.

subject to *in camera* review) sufficient to put Mr. Allphin on notice that he could no longer rely on his pleadings and would be required to submit affidavits of his own to establish a genuine issue of material fact for trial.

CR 56(e).⁴

Only then would the burden have shifted to Mr. Allphin to demonstrate that issues of fact required resolution by trial. And in the event that Mr. Allphin lacked sufficient evidence to meet this burden due to ongoing discovery, he could have sought relief for additional time under CR 56(f). Instead, Ecology sought relief via a show cause motion with no recognized analogue in Washington law.

One day after Mr. Allphin filed his Motion for Reconsideration of the Court of Appeals' Opinion, the Court of Appeals issued its opinion in *Zabala v. Okanogan County*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 156, 414 P.3d 585 (2018). The posture in *Zabala* demonstrates the proper procedure Ecology should have employed to seek dismissal of Mr. Allphin's crossclaims. In *Zabala*, a PRA requesting citizen sued a PRA responding agency, alleging failure to produce records in accordance with the PRA. *Id.* at 157–60.

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