FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/9/2018 4:27 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 95946-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KITTITAS COUNTY, a municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Washington

Plaintiff,

٧.

SKY ALLPHIN, ABC HOLDINGS, INC., AND CHEM-SAFE ENVIRONMENTAL, INC.,

Petitioners,

and

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY,

Respondent.

DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

LEE OVERTON Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 38055 P.O. Box 40117 Olympia, WA 98504-0117 360-586-2668 OID No. 91024

I. INTRODUCTION

In asking this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision below, Petitioners Sky Allphin, ABC Holdings, Inc., and Chem-Safe Environmental, Inc. (collectively, "Mr. Allphin") rely entirely on a fundamental misrepresentation of the decision. According to Mr. Allphin, the Court of Appeals shifted the burden of persuasion, requiring him to show that Ecology had not complied with the Public Records Act (PRA). Mr. Allphin then argues that such a requirement is contrary to the PRA and presents an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should decide. In fact, neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals imposed any show cause burden on Mr. Allphin. The Court of Appeals decision could not be clearer: "Contrary to the suggestion of Mr. Allphin, Ecology never contended that by bringing a show cause motion it had shifted the burden of persuasion to him. . . . The trial court properly held Ecology to its burden." Thus shorn of fiction, Mr. Allphin's petition for review presents nothing more than a properly conducted, factbased hearing under the PRA. Because it does not raise an issue of substantial public interest or meet any other criteria in RAP 13(4)(b), it does not warrant review by this Court.

II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

While the case does not warrant review, if the Court were to accept review, the sole issue presented would be:

Was it within the trial court's authority to order, on motion by Ecology, a show cause hearing under RCW 42.56.550(3), requiring Ecology to demonstrate that it had complied with the Public Record Act?

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case began in February 2013 when Kittitas County filed an action in superior court to enjoin Ecology from releasing, in response to a broad public records request made by Mr. Allphin, several records that it had identified as responsive County work product that the County had shared with Ecology. CP 270–77. The background to the action goes back at least five years, to July 2008, when inspectors from Kittitas County and Ecology discovered an unpermitted warehouse facility containing hundreds of 55-gallon hazardous waste drums. CP 1780–81. An officer of ABC Holdings and Chem-Safe Environmental, which owned and operated the facility, told the inspectors that the facility operated under a permit issued by Ecology's hazardous waste program. This was not true—the facility was in violation of solid waste permitting regulations. CP 1780; ABC Holdings, Inc. v. Kittitas Cty., 187 Wn. App. 275, 284–85, 348 P.3d 1222 (2015), review denied, 184 Wn.2d 1014, 360 P.3d 817 (2015).

For the next two years, the County, with assistance from Ecology, worked with Chem-Safe to help bring the facility into compliance, so that it could meet the conditions for a permit and avoid enforcement.

CP 1778-89. Chem-Safe resisted these efforts, and the County ultimately issued a notice of violation and required that operations cease until the facility obtained a solid waste permit. CP 1786–87; Suppl. CP 2813–19. Chem-Safe appealed and the Court of Appeals affirmed the notice of violation. *ABC Holdings*, 187 Wn. App. at 284–85.

The records requests began in October 2012. While litigating his appeal of Kittitas County's enforcement against him, Mr. Allphin made the first of many requests to Ecology and Kittitas County, seeking documents related to the subject of that litigation. CP 229; Suppl. CP 2716; see also CP 229–49. The scope of the requests encompassed attorney-client communications and attorney work product held by both agencies, created in preparation for the litigation over Kittitas County's enforcement against Mr. Allphin. At the County's request, Ecology delayed release of County work product in its possession, to allow the County to seek court protection of it. CP 233–34.

Litigation in this case commenced with the County's action for an injunction in February 2013. The trial court granted the County's injunction request in December 2013, CP 171–72, and shortly thereafter

allowed Mr. Allphin to bring counter-claims against the County. Suppl. CP 2698–701. The County prevailed against the counter-claims. Suppl. CP 3110–115; *Kittitas Cty. v. Allphin*, 195 Wn. App. 355, 360–61, 381 P.3d 1202 (2016), *review granted in part by* 187 Wn.2d 1001, 386 P.3d 1089 (2017), *and aff'd as amended by* 416 P.3d 1232 (June 18, 2018). Mr. Allphin then brought more claims—in October 2014, he amended his answer to bring cross-claims against Ecology. CP 37–42. For the next 22 months, until the hearing on the merits in August 2016, Mr. Allphin conducted discovery, searching for evidence to substantiate his claims. Suppl. CP 3119–20; CP 457–63; CP 438–513, CP 1526–28; CP 933; CP 2390–94; CP 1544-46; CP 2192–201.

After 14 months, Ecology sought to resolve the matter with a determination by the court as to whether it had violated the PRA.

CP 99-121. On January 26, 2016, it filed a motion for an order to show cause, asking the court to order a hearing in which Ecology would carry its statutory burden to show that it had not violated the PRA. *Id.*; *see also Kittitas Cty. v. Allphin*, 2 Wn. App. 2d 782, 787, 413 P.3d 22 (Mar. 13, 2018). By that time, the litigation had been going on for almost three years, and it had been 14 months since Mr. Allphin brought cross-claims against Ecology. He had served two sets of interrogatories and requests for production on Ecology and deposed five Ecology employees. Ecology had

answered the interrogatories, provided its staff for depositions, and produced thousands of pages of records in response to the requests for production. Suppl. CP 3119-20; CP 457-63; CP 464-76; *see also Kittitas Cty.*, 2 Wn. App. 2d at 787. Mr. Allphin responded to Ecology's motion by objecting to the propriety of the motion itself, and by filing his own motion for relief, alleging PRA claims against Ecology. CP 528-41; *see also* CP 1085-107.

Ecology's motion was clear about the burden of proof under the PRA. Citing *Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane County v. County of Spokane*, 172 Wn.2d 702, 720–21, 261 P.3d 119 (2011), the motion announced that, as the responding agency, Ecology had the burden to demonstrate that it had not violated the PRA. CP 109. By its request for the show cause hearing provided for under RCW 42.56.550(3), Ecology's motion sought the judicial review afforded by that statute, but did not seek an expedited hearing. Far from it—after initially noting the hearing 44 days from the date of filing, Ecology honored Mr. Allphin's immediate request to re-note it three weeks later. CP 436; CP 1339–40. Even then, the hearing did not occur for another four months due to objections and motions by Mr. Allphin, and the court's own schedule. On July 13, 2016, almost six months after Ecology filed its motion, the trial court terminated

discovery and ordered a hearing on the competing motions, which took place on August 11, 2016. CP 2191.

The trial court rejected Mr. Allphin's objections that it lacked authority to hold a show cause hearing until Mr. Allphin himself requested one. After conducting the hearing, the trial court found that Ecology had "met its show cause burden by demonstrating the reasonableness of its search and that it provided all documents located in the search," and that Ecology had not violated the PRA. CP 2654. Affirming, the Court of Appeals held that Ecology had the right to seek judicial review under RCW 42.56.550(3), and that the trial court had authority to order a hearing under that statute on Ecology's motion: "As with other civil disputes, parties have means under the civil rules for moving a dispute toward an orderly resolution. The trial court did not proceed illegally by engaging in judicial review at the request of Ecology." Kittitas Ctv., 2 Wn. App. 2d at 793. It also rejected the objection that the trial court had shifted the show cause burden: "Contrary to the suggestion of Mr. Allphin, Ecology never contended that by bringing a show cause motion it had shifted the burden of persuasion to him. . . . The trial court properly held Ecology to its burden." Kittitas Cty., 2 Wn. App. 2d at 792.

Holding that "[a]gencies and objectors to disclosure have the same right to proceed under the Civil Rules as do record requesters," *Kittitas*

County, 2 Wn. App. 2d at 790 (citing City of Lakewood v. Koenig, 160 Wn. App. 883, 889–90, 250 P.3d 113 (2011)), the Court of Appeals concluded that under those rules, Ecology's show cause motion may be treated as properly brought under CR 7(b), so long as it did not prejudice Mr. Allphin, which it did not. Kittitas Cty., 2 Wn. App. 2d at 792 (citing Marshall v. Weyerhaeuser Co., 456 F. Supp. 474, 477 n.2 (D.N.J. 1978)). It further concluded that, "[w]hether a record requestor makes a show cause motion under RCW 42.56.550(1) or (2) or an agency makes a motion for judicial review under CR 7(b), the nature of the hearing is the same: RCW 42.56.550(3), authorizing hearings based solely on affidavits, applies to '[j]udicial review of all agency actions taken or challenged under RCW 42.56.030 through 24.56.520.' "Kittitas Cty., 2 Wn. App. 2d at 792.

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Mr. Allphin's sole basis for review is his contention that the trial court improperly placed the burden of showing Ecology's alleged non-compliance with the PRA on him. He argues that the Court should accept review because, supposedly, in ordering a show cause hearing on Ecology's motion, the trial court "inappropriately shift[ed] the burden of persuasion from the responding agency to the [requestor]." Pet. Review 6. Because this contention is false, it cannot provide a basis for review.

Neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals improperly shifted any burden to Mr. Allphin—he simply failed to present evidence to overcome Ecology's showing of compliance with the PRA. The mere fact that the trial court held a show cause hearing under RCW 42.56.550(3), after allowing full opportunity for discovery, ensuring that Mr. Allphin was in no way prejudiced, does not itself make this case appropriate for review, as such a hearing is expressly authorized under the statute.

Ecology moved for the show cause hearing provided for under RCW 42.56.550. In doing so, Ecology itself shouldered the burden to show cause, despite being the moving party. Ecology was clear in its motion that it had the burden of persuasion. CP 109 ("The responding agency has the burden . . . to show the reasonableness of its search, and that it disclosed responsive documents within a reasonable time frame"). The trial court held Ecology to this burden, and Ecology met it. CP 2654 ("Ecology has met its show cause burden by demonstrating the reasonableness of its search and that it provided all documents located in the search"). The Court of Appeals concluded that the trial court had held Ecology to the proper burden under the PRA, and that Ecology had carried its burden. *Kittitas Cty.*, 2 Wn. App. 2d at 792.

Mr. Allphin asserts, erroneously and without support, that the burden of persuasion must have been placed on him because show cause

motions "necessarily place the burden of persuasion on the nonmoving party," and because a show cause motion "is a burden-shifting device."

Pet. Review 10, 14. While he cites to *United States Securities & Exchange Commission v. Hyatt*, 621 F.3d 687, 695 (7th Cir. 2010), that case does not support those propositions. Pet. Review 10, 14. To the contrary, courts have expressly rejected his argument. *See, e.g., Chambers v. Blickle Ford Sales, Inc.*, 313 F.2d 252, 257 (2d Cir. 1963) ("show cause order does not shift the burden of proof but is merely a method of summary procedure, like a summons"); *In re Request of Rosier*, 105 Wn.2d 606, 616–17, 717 P.2d 1353 (1986) (show cause order citing requestor into court did not improperly shift the burden of proof to him). In any event, what matters is what occurred: the trial court held Ecology to its proper burden under the PRA; Ecology carried it; and there was no requirement placed on Mr. Allphin to show cause.

After Ecology had met its burden under *Neighborhood Alliance* to show that it had conducted an adequate search and had provided the responsive records it discovered, in order to avoid dismissal Mr. Allphin was required to come forward with evidence to overcome that showing, in support of his claims. *See Kittitas Cty.*, 2 Wn. App. 2d at 792. He contends, with respect to one specific claim, that the burden placed on him to produce evidence sufficient to overcome Ecology's showing was

inappropriate. Pet. Review 13–14. In that instance, Mr. Allphin had claimed that, because he had received a particular record from Kittitas County, Ecology should possess that record, too, and therefore must be silently withholding it. *Kittitas Cty. v. Allphin*, No. 34760-5-III, slip op. at 25–26 (Mar. 13, 2018). But his "theory about the record's provenance and whereabouts [was] based entirely on his speculation." *Kittitas Cty.*, No. 34760-5-III, slip op. at 26. The burden to overcome Ecology's showing properly rested with him, and he failed to submit sufficient evidence to meet the burden. *See Forbes v. City of Gold Bar*, 171 Wn. App. 857, 867, 288 P.3d 384 (2012) ("Purely speculative claims about the existence and discoverability of other documents will not overcome an agency affidavit, which is accorded a presumption of good faith"). He failed because he submitted no evidence at all to show that Ecology had improperly withheld any documents. *Kittitas Cty.*, No. 34760-5-III, slip op. at 24–25.

Mr. Allphin also argues that, under the PRA, an agency may seek only a summary judgment hearing, not the type of hearing provided for in RCW 42.56.550. Pet. Review 15–17. His first argument for this fails because it is a mere repeat of his mistaken insistence that granting an agency's request for a show cause hearing under RCW 42.56.550 necessarily shifts the show cause burden. His second argument—that the

summary judgment procedure leaves open the possibility of trial in the event of a factual dispute—also fails. Pet. Review 16. Mr. Allphin brought his claims under RCW 42.56.550. CP 42. Where a plaintiff seeks relief under RCW 42.56.550, the underlying action is a show cause hearing, not a trial; and using the summary judgment procedure does not alter that. *Wood v. Thurston Cty.*, 117 Wn. App. 22, 28, 68 P.3d 1084 (2003).

Because Mr. Allphin was not required to carry any improper burden, his petition fails to present any basis for review by this Court.

Stripped of his unsupported claims about improper burden shifting, the petition presents nothing more than a straightforward, fact-based application of the PRA that the Court of Appeals properly affirmed.

V. CONCLUSION

Because Mr. Allphin's Petition meets none of this Court's criteria for granting review, Ecology respectfully requests that it be denied.